FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
7/6/2023 8:00 AM
No. 38591-4-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102157-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

SCOTT BRITTON, Petitioner

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF BENTON COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE ALEXANDER C. EKSTROM

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Scott Britton, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BELOW

Scott Britton seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered June 6, 2023. A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Sentencing Reform Act requires that where a defendant's criminal history includes out-of-state convictions, those convictions must be classified according to comparable offense definitions and sentences under Washington law. Where the elements of the out-of-state crime are not legally comparable to an analogous Washington State offense, the Court must conduct a factual comparability analysis. Did the factual comparability analysis and decision, in this case, conflict

with the Supreme Court's holdings in *In re Pers. Restraint* of Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249, 257, 111 P.3d 837 (2005), and the holding in *State v. Ortega*, 120 Wn. App.165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Scott Britton was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole in 1997. CP 122-129. His criminal history included four convictions for robbery in the second degree. Three of the four prior convictions arose from Oregon courts. CP 123. At the 1997 sentencing, the trial court did not conduct a comparability analysis of the Oregon convictions before including them in the offender score. (10/24/97 RP 4-8;22).

In June 2021, Mr. Britton came before the trial court for resentencing under RCW 9.94A.647. The newly enacted legislation retroactively authorized resentencing for offenders sentenced as persistent offenders, in which

a conviction for robbery second degree was a basis. CP 284-285.

In the 2021 resentencing, the trial court cited collateral estoppel as a legal basis for not considering a comparability analysis between the Washington and Oregon offenses. (11/12/21 RP 4-6). Mr. Britton appealed. CP 722-23.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Britton that he was not collaterally estopped from objecting to the foreign convictions because they had never been litigated. (See Appendix A; State v. Britton Slip Op. at 6-7, June 6, 2023.).

On appeal, Mr. Britton further argued the Oregon convictions were neither legally nor factually similar. (App. Brief at 8-15). The Court of Appeals agreed the offenses were not legally comparable. (See Appendix A at 9).

As an offer of proof that Mr. Britton had committed the robberies, the State provided the sentencing court

with copies of the indictments: No. 89030471 from Linn County, Oregon, and No. CM 89-0111 from Benton County, Oregon (CP 301-302 and CP 306), along with the judgment and sentences for each. (CP 303-304 and CP 309-310).

The Benton County indictment accused Mr. Britton of robbery in the first degree and theft in the second degree. (CP 301). Mr. Britton entered a plea of guilty to robbery in the second degree, and the theft charge was dismissed. (CP 303-304). There was no accompanying statement of facts on plea of guilty.

The Linn County indictment by the grand jury read:

The above-named defendant(s) is (are) accused by the Grand Jury of Linn County, State of Oregon, by this Indictment of the offense of Robbery in the First Degree, with a firearm,

committed as follows:

The said defendant(s) did, in Linn County, State of Oregon, on or about September 13, 1988, unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon Robin L. Myers, by displaying a pistol, and was armed with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a pistol, while in the course of committing theft of property, to-wit: money, with the intent of preventing resistance to the said defendant's taking and retention immediately after the taking of the said property, and during the commission of this felony, the defendant personally threatened the use of a firearm, to-wit: a pistol, contrary to the Statutes in such cases made and provided and against the peace and dignity of the State of Oregon.

(CP 306)

Mr. Britton entered a no-contest plea. (CP 307-308). The judgment and sentence acknowledge a plea of no contest to the crime of robbery in the second degree (as amended). (CP 309).

Conducting its own factual comparability analysis, the Court of Appeals held that the documents should be viewed as acknowledging guilt of the broadest range of criminal behavior defined by the Oregon robbery statute. The Court ruled the convictions were factually comparable. (See Appendix A).

V. ARGUMENT

This Court may accept a petition for review where the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision by our Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Britton asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision because it deviated from the holdings in *State v. Ortega*, 120 Wn.

App.165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004); and *In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery,* 154 Wn.2d 249, 257, 111 P.3d 837 (2005).

In State v. Howard, 15 Wn.App.2d 725, 476 P.3d 1087 (2020), the Court addressed the legal comparability of the robbery statutes in Washington and Oregon. It held the Washington second-degree robbery statute required an actual taking of property, while the Oregon second-degree robbery¹ statute built on its third-degree robbery statute² and provided for conviction for both actual theft

¹ Under ORS 164.405: A person commits the crime of robbery in the second degree if the person violates ORS 164.395 and the person: (a) Represents by word or conduct that the person is armed with what purports to be a dangerous or deadly weapon or (b) Is aided by another person actually present. ORS 164.405.

² Under ORS 164.395(1): a person commits robbery in the third degree if, in the course of committing or attempting to commit theft, the person uses or threatens the immediate use of physical force upon another person with the intent of (a) Preventing or overcoming resistance to the taking of the property or to retention thereof immediately after the taking; or (b) Compelling the owner of such property or another person to deliver the property.

and attempted theft of property. *Id.* at 737. The Court concluded the Oregon robbery statute is broader than the Washington statute, as it includes "attempted" and was, therefore, not legally comparable. *Id.*

FACTUAL COMPARABILITY

Here the Court of Appeals relied on Oregon case law to conclude that the documentation of Mr. Britton's pleas amounted to an admission of the broadest category of the Oregon robbery statutes: a completed robbery rather than an attempted robbery. This conclusion is an error.

Under the SRA, the State must prove the comparability of out-of-state convictions by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Collins,* 144

ORS 164.395(1).

Wn.App. 547, 554, 182 P.3d 1016 (2008). Here, the State cannot meet its burden: there is no plea statement, admission, or stipulation to the underlying facts in the documents.

This Court has held that "where a foreign statute is broader than Washington's, that examination [factual comparability] may not be possible because there may have been no incentive for the accused to have attempted to prove that he did not commit the narrower offense." *In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery,* 154 Wn.2d at 257. That is precisely the case here.

The Oregon cases the Court of Appeals relied on are not helpful for factual comparability analysis. The Court cited *State v Jackson*, 319 Or. App. 789, 511 P.3d 82 (2022). There, the defendant had been previously convicted of charges of coercion and harassment, entering a no-contest plea.

While on probation, he entered a no-contest plea to a new harassment charge. *Id.* at 790. The defendant argued his probation for the first offenses should not be revoked because the evidence arose from a no-contest plea; he disputed that he had not actually committed the crimes and only entered a no-contest plea to avoid delays. *Id.*

The Oregon Court held that the trial court had conducted a colloquy with the defendant, and it was proper to rely on the judgment of conviction that the defendant had committed a crime. *Id.* at 792. The Court of Appeals here relied on the statement the trial court was "entitled to rely on the judgment of conviction as evidence that defendant committed a crime" and "[T]he judgment of conviction was legally sufficient evidence for the trial court to find by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant failed to obey all laws in violation of that condition of his probation." (See appendix A at p. 11-12).

The case is distinguishable from Mr. Britton's. Mr. Britton does not argue he did not commit a crime. Mr. Britton argues the crime is not factually comparable to its counterpart in Washington because there is no evidence it was more than an attempted robbery. Further, he had no incentive at the time of the conviction to prove it was an attempt.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals drew an incorrect conclusion when it cited *State v. Slagle*, 297 Or. App. 392, 441 P.3d 644 (2019). In *Slagle*, the defendant pleaded guilty to 10 counts of encouraging child sexual abuse. At sentencing, he argued the article "a" preceded the word "child" for each count, and the indictment did not distinguish that "child" was not a single individual. He argued the 10 counts should merge into a single count. According to the affidavit, there were thousands of images of child pornography. *Id.* at 394,396.

Relying on a U.S. Supreme Court case, *United*States v. Broce, 488 U.S. 563, 570, 109 S.Ct. 757, 102

L.Ed.2d 927 (1989) (in pleading guilty, a defendant admits to "the crime charged against him" and the factual predicate underlying the conviction). The Oregon Court reasoned the defendant pled guilty without qualifying his pleas and assented to the broader construction that he possessed 10 images of different children. *Slagle*, 297 Or. App. at 395-396.

The Court also wrote, "the information can reasonably be read to allege that there were 10 different victims of defendant's crimes. Therefore, the defendant's assertion that the affidavit rests on a different factual basis than the information is incorrect." *Id.* at 397.

In this case, the Court of Appeals adopted the single sentence "because the defendant pleaded guilty without qualifying his pleas, he assented to the broader construction" and wrongly applied it to Mr. Britton's case.

In light of this Court's reasoning in *Lavery*, and *State v.Ortega*, 120 Wn.App. 165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004)³ Mr. Britton had no incentive to prove he did not commit the narrower offense of attempted robbery. Thus, factual comparability may not even be possible. The Court of Appeal's reasoning is error.

Moreover, here the indictment cannot reasonably be read to mean Mr. Britton assented to the broadest construction of the statute: the 1989 indictment cites robbery in the first degree and theft. The judgment is for robbery in the second degree, and the theft charge was dismissed. The dismissed charge makes it more reasonable that the offense amounted to an attempted robbery. There is no evidence of a court colloquy in which

³ Texas statute was broader than comparable Washington offense, and in conducting comparability analysis, the Court held that the defendant had no incentive to challenge and prove the victim was 12 at the time of contact, whereas Texas criminalized contact with a child under 17.

the defendant would have acknowledged the plea was to commission of a robbery rather than attempt to commit a robbery. Again, without a factual plea statement, the State cannot meet its burden to prove factual comparability.

Similarly, the Linn County indictment accuses Mr. Britton of being armed with a deadly weapon while in the course of committing theft of property. (CP 306). The nocontest plea has no facts about the matter, and the judgment and sentence acknowledge a plea of no contest without the underlying facts. (CP 309).

The Court of Appeals emphasized the grand jury indictment as evidence that Mr. Britton did more than attempt a robbery: he was accused of representing by word or conduct that the defendant had a pistol while in the course of committing theft of property. The Court wrote, "In Oregon, a plea of guilty is a 'judicial admission of all the material allegations of the indictment in a most indisputable form." (Appendix A. Slip Op. at 15). The

Court cited *Richardson v. Williard*, 241 Or. 376, 378, 406 P.2d 156 (1965). The single line has been taken out of context and is distinguishable from the current matter.

In *Richardson*, the defendant made a postconviction appeal claiming he did not appeal the judgment and sentence because of ignorance of his right to appeal and a court-appointed counsel to represent him. The Court found his claim was without merit. He had pleaded guilty to an information that accused him of larceny in a store. He waived the grand jury indictment and was represented by counsel. *Id.* at 377. On appeal, he also claimed that when he entered the plea, he made a confession to police without advice of counsel, was not advised he had the right to counsel, and had he known the confession might have been inadmissible based on later law, he would not have pleaded guilty. *Id.* at 378.

The Oregon Court held the appeal was without merit, adding, "Whether or not the defendant knew the

confession was admissible was irrelevant because the plea of guilty with the advice of counsel was a judicial admission of all the material allegations of the indictment in a most indisputable form." *Id.* at 378.

The single line from the opinion used by the Court of Appeals does not apply in this case. The material allegation is robbery in the second degree. The question is whether the indictment sufficiently distinguished between attempted robbery and the commission of a robbery where the indictment merely alleges "in the course of committing theft of property."

A few sentences from Oregon case law, removed from context, do not satisfy the burden the State carries to show factual comparability.

Similarly, the Court cited *State v. Kappelman*, 162

Or. App. 170, 986 P.2d 603 (1999) for the proposition that a guilty plea implicitly admits all facts necessary to support the material elements of a charge. What the

Oregon Court actually decided was that the trial court incorrectly concluded that the defendant's guilty plea was a binding admission that he had caused a hit-and-run accident and was liable for restitution. *Id.* at 176.

The plea was an admission only that he was involved in an accident that resulted in property damage and did not perform statutory duties. It was not an admission of any facts that went beyond the essential elements of the charge, e.g., those found in the police report supporting a conclusion that the accident was the defendant's fault. *Id.* at 176.

Finally, the Court relied on *State v. Hetland*, 31 Or. App. 529, 570 P.2d 1202 (1977). There, the defendant pleaded guilty to driving with a suspended license on several occasions. *Id.* at 533-35. The question the Court resolved was whether exhibits of those guilty pleas were properly admitted in the defendant's current case. The Court cited "a defendant's guilty plea was an admission of

all the material elements of the charge," specifically, knowledge of the suspension of his driver's license, a material element. *Id.* at 535.

It is inapplicable to Mr. Britton's case. The material elements of robbery in the second degree include attempted robbery or the commission of a robbery.

Resolution of the disjunctive language for a factual comparability analysis requires precision. Absent facts stipulated to or admitted which specifically distinguish attempt from the commission, the Court cannot find the offenses are factually comparable to Washington offenses.

The ruling by the Court of Appeals conflicts with other rulings by Washington Appellate Courts and requires review by this Court.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr.