FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/7/2023 1:57 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102157-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

SCOTT ALLEN BRITTON, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC EISINGER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

TERRY BLOOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place STE A230 Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

I. INTRODUCTION:

The defendant challenged the offender score calculation in the trial court and at the Court of Appeals. The defendant at the Court of Appeals did not dispute the trial court's calculation for a Robbery in the Second Degree in Snohomish County, WA (2 points), a conviction from Linn County, Oregon which went to trial and is comparable to our Robbery in the First Degree but was charged as a Robbery in the Second Degree (2 points), or the current offense of Arson in the First Degree (2 points).

The defendant disputes the inclusion in his offender score two Robbery convictions in Linn County, Oregon. In both cases he used a firearm to prevent resistance to his taking money from individuals. The defendant entered a plea of guilty and a plea of no-contest to these charges. The Court of Appeals correctly used caselaw to analyze whether the Robbery convictions in Oregon were comparable to the Washington robbery statute.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is there a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision, which held that there was factual comparability from the Oregon Robbery convictions, with decisions of this Court?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was found guilty of three Robbery convictions in Oregon in the late 1980s to early 1990s.

Crime	Offense	Date of	County /	Cause No.	Clerk's
	Date	sentencing	State		Paper
Robbery in	9/13/88	3/19/91	Linn Co,	89-030471	CP 24-27
the Second			OR		
Degree					
Robbery in	12/24/89	10/2/90	Linn Co.,	89-0304073	CP 29-32
the Second			OR		
Degree					
Robbery in	1/24/89	3/15/89	Benton Co,	89-0111	CP 33-34,
the Second			OR		301
Degree					

The Linn County, Oregon, cause number 89-030473:

The defendant is not contesting the comparability of this crime. He was charged with Robbery in the First Degree on December 24, 1988,

unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon Todd L. Coughran, by displaying a pistol, and was armed with a deadly weapon, to wit: a pistol, while in the course of committing theft of property, to-wit: money, with the intent of preventing resistance to the said defendant's taking and retention immediately after the taking of the said property, and during the commission of this felony, the defendant personally threatened the use of a firearm, to wit: a pistol

CP 98.

A transcript of this trial shows that the defendant on December 24, 1988, at 3:30 A.M. walked into an Albertsons store and then opened his coat and put his hands on a revolver and told the clerk to give him all the money in the till. CP 426-27. The clerk did so, and the defendant fled. CP 429.

The Oregon District Attorney amended the charge from

First-Degree Robbery to Second-Degree Robbery because the

defendant "displayed the weapon and did not point the weapon .
..." CP 547.

Concerning Linn County, OR., Cause Number 89-030471: The Indictment, dated March 1, 1991, is attached as App. A. in the State's brief to the Court of Appeals. It is also CP 27. The Indictment charges the defendant with Robbery in the Second-Degree, (the typed portion charges First Degree, but "First" is crossed out and "Second" interlineated) with a firearm, specifically charging that on September 13, 1988, the defendant

unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon Robin L. Myers, by [interlineated by handwriting] representing by word or conduct that defendant [crossed out: displaying a pistol] was armed with a deadly weapon, to wit: a pistol, while in the course of committing theft of property, to wit: money, with the intent of preventing resistance to the said defendant's taking and retention immediately after the taking of said property, and during the commission of this felony, the defendant personally threatened the use of a firearm, to wit: a pistol

CP 102.

He entered a plea of no-contest to this charge on February 14, 1991. CP 307-11.

Concerning the Benton County, OR., cause number 89-0111:

The documents pertaining to this case are also attached as Appendix C in the State's Brief. The Indictment charges:

(he) did unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon KENNETH A. RICHEY by displaying deadly weapon, a .22 caliber revolver, with which the said defendant was armed, while in the course of committing theft of property, to wit: money, with the intent of compelling KENNETH A. RICHEY to deliver the property to the defendant.

CP 301.

He was also charged with a second count, Theft in the Second-Degree, for unlawfully and knowingly committing the theft of money in an amount over \$50.00. CP 301.

He entered a plea of guilty to this charge on March 23, 1989. CP 303-04. Possibly in exchange for this plea, the Theft in the Second-Degree charge was dismissed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Linn County case and the Benton County,
Oregon cases are comparable to Washington State's
First-Degree Robbery statute, which makes the
defendant's argument irrelevant.

The defendant argues that the Linn County case, No. 89-030471, and the Benton County, OR, case might be attempted robberies, because there was no colloquy in which he acknowledged that he actually completed the robbery. PRV at 12-13.

However, this argument overlooks that an attempted robbery in the first degree under Washington law is included in the definition of a "violent offense" under RCW 9.94A.030 (58)(a)(i) because first degree robbery is a class A felony, RCW 9A.56.200 (2). As such it would have added two points to the offender score under RCW 9.94A.525 (9).

The crime alleged in Linn County would constitute a First-Degree Robbery under RCW 9A.56.200 (1). The defendant represented by words or conduct he had a firearm, which is comparable to RCW 9A.56.200 (1)(a)(ii) "displays what appears to be a firearm"

He did so while threatening another person with physical

force in order to steal money, which is comparable to the definition of Robbery in RCW 9A.56.190.

Here is the Indictment from Linn County, Or:

unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon Robin L. Myers, by [interlineated by handwriting] representing by word or conduct that defendant [crossed out: displaying a pistol] was armed with a deadly weapon, to wit a pistol, while in the course of committing theft of property, to wit: money, with the intent of preventing resistance to the said defendant's taking and retention immediately after the taking of said property, and during the commission of this felony, the defendant personally threatened the use of a firearm, to wit: a pistol

CP 102.

Likewise, the Benton County, OR is comparable to Washington's RCW 9A.56.200 (1)(a)(ii). The Indictment there states:

(he) did unlawfully and knowingly threaten the immediate use of physical force upon KENNETH A. RICHEY by displaying deadly weapon, a .22 caliber revolver, with which the said defendant was armed, while in the course of committing theft of property, to wit: money, with the intent of compelling KENNETH A. RICHEY to deliver the property to the defendant.

CP 301.

Again, the defendant used a firearm to physically force and compel the victim to give him money.

B. There is adequate evidence that the defendant completed at least a Robbery in the Second Degree in both cases.

The State believes this is discussed adequately in the Court of Appeals' decision on pages 13-14 regarding the Linn County conviction and on pages 15-16 regarding the Benton County, OR conviction. The defendant was charged with theft, not attempted theft.

C. The defendant's citations are either not on point or do not challenge the Court of Appeals' decision.

The defendant specifically cites *State v. Ortega*, 120 Wn. App. 165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004) and *In re Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 111 P.3d 837 (2005) as cases the Court of Appeals decision deviated from. Both cases are not directly applicable in this case. *Ortega*, 120 Wn. App. at 167, dealt with the comparability of a Texas conviction for indecency with a child

to a Washington crime for purposes of a persistent offender.

Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 252, dealt with whether a federal bank robbery conviction was comparable to Washington's Second-Degree Robbery law.

The defendant also does not challenge the Court of Appeals' citation to *State v. Releford*, 148 Wn. App. 478, 489, 200 P.3d 729 (2009) that a reviewing court should "look to the law of the state in which the defendant entered the plea as that law existed at the time of the plea—that is, the law from which the defendant could reasonably expect the consequences of the guilty plea to flow."

The Court of Appeals' citations to *Richardson v*.

Williard, 241 Or. 376, 378, 406 P.2d 156 (1965), *State v*.

Kappelman, 162 Or. App. 170, 175, 986 P.2d 603 (1999), and State v. Hetland, 31 Or. App. 529, 534-35, 570 P.2d 1201 (1977), while criticized by the defendant, stand for the general rule that a plea of guilty is a judicial admission of all the material allegations in the indictment. Washington has the

same rule. *State v. Rigsby*, 49 Wn. App. 912, 914, 747 P.2d 472 (1987). A defendant should not expect anything other than this. If he pleads guilty, he is admitting the material elements of the crime.

V. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petitioner for review should be denied. This document contains 1,549 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.